

Annual Report 2022 - 2023



Contents

Contents	2
Introduction	3
1. What is MAPPA?	4
2. Who are Registered Sex Offenders?	5
3. How MAPPA works in North Strathclyde	6-7
4. Strategic Oversight Group	8
5. MAPPA Operational Group	9
6. Housing	10
7. Local Authority, Criminal Justice Social Work	10
8. Police, Scottish Prison Service, Health	11
9. Victim Support	12
10. Local Developments	
5.1 Key Developments during this year (2022/2023)	13
5.2 Additional Achievements for 2022/2023	14
5.3 Future Aims and Objectives for 2022/2023	15
5.4 Training Plan for 2022/2023	16
11. Annual Report 01/04/2022 to 31/03/2023	17-22
12. Explanation Commentary on Statistical Tables	22-26
13. Glossary of Terms	27

Introduction

Welcome to the 2022 / 2023 MAPPA Annual Report covering the North Strathclyde MAPPA Area.

MAPPA is a statutory process that reflects the commitment of key stakeholders involved in Public Protection. Police Scotland, Local Authorities, Scottish Prison Service and NHS work closely together with other key partners to manage sexual offenders, restricted patients in the community and other Risk of Serious Harm Offenders These agencies, share information and prepare or contribute to risk assessments and reviews which in turn support robust risk management plans.

The information within this report reflects the commitment and efforts of staff in all agencies to this challenging and complex activity.

Throughout the reporting period 2022/23, MAPPA has remained committed to managing the risks posed by offenders. This has been a challenging period due to the restrictions of the pandemic. The MAPPA practitioners have adapted and worked hard to ensure that the MAPPA process has been followed as close to normal as possible.

It is never possible to eliminate risk entirely. However, the public can expect that all reasonable steps are taken to reduce the risk of harm to the public from known offenders. This is a difficult, complex, and challenging task which is why the priority given to working together and the sharing of information and expertise through MAPPA is so important.

This annual report reflects the contributions made by all the agencies involved in MAPPA across North Strathclyde and sets out our commitment to continue to develop strong partnerships and explore new ways of working to face the challenges of protecting the public from serious harm.

I hope you find this annual report helpful in understanding how agencies across North Strathclyde are working together to protect the public.

Chair MAPPA Strategic Oversight Group

WHAT IS MAPPA?

MAPPA stands for Multi-Agency Public Protection Arrangements and its primary purpose is to maintain public protection and the reduction of serious harm. The protection of children, adults at risk and other members of the public are paramount. MAPPA is a model of organising and co-ordinating information and creating and reviewing risk management plans of individuals subject to the Sex Offender Notification Requirements (SONR), mentally disordered offenders (restricted patients) and Other Risk of Serious Harm offenders (Violent Offenders)

Legislation defines responsible authorities and those with a duty to co-operate (DTC). In North Strathclyde the responsible authorities are:

- Police Service of Scotland
- Inverclyde Council
- Renfrewshire Council
- East Renfrewshire Council
- West Dunbartonshire Council
- East Dunbartonshire Council
- Argyll & Bute Council
- Greater Glasgow and Clyde Health Board and Highland NHS (for Restricted Patients)
- Scottish Prison Service (SPS)

Responsible authorities are tasked with the responsibility for assessment and management of offenders who are subject to MAPPA.

Duty to co-operate authorities include:

- Scottish Children's Reporter Administration
- Electronic Monitoring Providers i.e. G4S
- Health Services/NHS
- Social Rented Landlords
- Department of Work and Pensions

These agencies are required to accept, provide, and share appropriate information to support the risk management planning of MAPPA offenders.

Who are Registered Sex Offenders?

Persons who are convicted of a Sexual Offence are required to notify the Police of their name, address and other personal details and notify any changes subsequently.

How are they managed?

There are 3 levels of management which are based upon the level of multi-agency co-operation required to implement the risk management plan effectively. Offenders will be moved up and down levels as appropriate.

Section 10 (1) (a - e) of the Management of Offenders etc. (Scotland) Act 2005 sets out three broad categories of offender who can be subject to MAPPA.

However in Scotland only Category 1 and Category 3 are managed under MAPPA

- Category 1: Sex offenders subject to SONR (Sex Offender Notification Requirements)
- Category 3: Other Risk of Serious Harm Offenders

This guidance relates to the operation of the provisions for the following Categories of offenders:

Registered Sex Offenders (RSOs) – those offenders convicted of an offence Listed in Schedule 3 to the Sexual Offences Act 2003 and required to comply with the sex offender notification requirements (SONR) set out in Part 2 of the 2003 Act. Those made subject to a Sexual Offences Prevention Order (SOPO), or are convicted of a breach of a Risk of Sexual Harm Order (RSHO).

Mentally Disordered Restricted Patients – this category of offender is detailed in chapter 10 and comprises those subject to any of the following orders or directions:

Patients who are detained following conviction under section 57A and section 59 of the Criminal Procedure (Scotland) Act 1995.

Patients who are detained under section 57(2) (a) and (b) of the Criminal Procedure (Scotland) Act 1995 Compulsion order with a Restriction Order following a finding of unfitness for trial or acquittal by reason of mental disorder; and

Prisoners detained in hospital on a Hospital Direction under section 59A of the Criminal Procedure (Scotland) Act 1995 or a transferred prisoner on a Transfer for Treatment Direction under section 136 of the Mental Health (Care and Treatment) (Scotland) Act 2003.

Other Risk of Serious Harm Offenders - offenders not required to comply with the SONR or are a mentally disordered restricted patient, who by reason of their conviction is subject to supervision in the community by any enactment, order, or licence; are assessed by the responsible authorities as posing a high or very high risk of serious harm to the public, which requires active multi-agency management at MAPPA level 2 or 3.

There are three management levels intended to ensure that resources are focused upon the cases where they are most needed, generally those involving the higher risks of serious harm. The levels are described as follows:

- Level 1: routine risk management where the risks can be managed by a single agency or multi-agency but do not require the attendance or commitment of resources at a senior level.
- **Level 2:** multi-agency risk management where the risks require multi-agency involvement and management oversight along with the resource input of senior management.
- Level 3: Multi Agency Public Protection Panels (MAPPP) For the critical few
 where the risk presented can only be managed by a plan which requires close
 co-operation at a senior level. This would be due to the complexity of the case
 and/or because of the unusual resource commitments required. It can also be
 where there are high levels of media scrutiny and/or public interest in the
 management of the case.

When an offender is placed on the SONR, the MAPPA Co-ordinator receives a MAPPA notification. Where a MAPPA offender meets the Level 2 or 3 Criteria, a referral is also made. A Level 3 MAPPA meeting must be held within 5 days of a referral being made, and a level 2 meeting held within 20 days.

Coordination is a crucial element of the MAPPA and ensures that the relevant functions of the framework operate effectively.

The coordinator facilitates the responsible authorities in their statutory responsibility to do the following:

- Receive referrals of RSOs, other risk of serious harm offenders and restricted patients who pose a risk of serious harm which needs to be managed at either Level 2 or Level 3.
- Share information relevant to the management of the risk of serious harm With other agencies within MAPPA on the basis that the information will Be held securely and used by appropriate personnel within those Agencies for public protection purposes only.

- Receive the risk management plans and minutes from all relevant Level 2 and Level 3 meetings, clearly showing the status of each offender, the agencies which are delivering components of the plan, timescales, review arrangements and the point at which the offender is due to exit the multi-agency risk management process.
- Provide a single point of contact for advice on all aspects of MAPPA.

STRATEGIC OVERSIGHT GROUP

MAPPA responsible authorities are required to establish local strategic boards which are primarily in place to have oversight of the arrangements including performance management and quality of MAPPA in their area. Their duties also extend to providing strategic decision making in strengthening and improving the MAPPA process. The SOG has responsibility for the formal review of significant cases including the commissioning of Significant Case Reviews and making recommendations on any subsequent findings

The North Strathclyde SOG provides leadership for MAPPA locally and from its different agency representation assists forming and ratifying protocols and procedures for how MAPPA should operate. The SOG has clear links with other local strategic multi-agency groups and communicates joint arrangements i.e. local child and adult protection committees. The SOG provides an oversight function that supports public reassurance and the identification of good practice in all areas of MAPPA.

The North Strathclyde SOG membership includes representation from senior management from the following agencies:

- Local Authorities
- Police
- Health
- SPS
- Housing
- MOG Chair
- MAPPA Coordinator

In order to support a robust and accountable reviewing process in cases where further serious offences have or may have been committed by offenders subject to MAPPA, the SOG has established an Initial Case Review Executive Group

The purpose of this group is to consider all Initial case Reviews and form a view on whether a Significant Case Review (SCR) is required. The group's membership is made up of the following:

- SOG Chair
- · Deputy SOG chair
- Community Forensic Mental Health Manager
- MAPPA Co-coordinator
- Police/Social Work Service Manager (where appropriate)

The group will review all the information and evidence available and identify any learning opportunities and instances of good practice. Any areas of practice that require developed are recorded and feedback to the MOG for action. The Scottish Government Sex Offender Strategy Team are notified and any issues that have a wider significant impact on MAPPA are taken forward for discussion at the National SOG.

In relation to criminal justice social work cases the Care Inspectorate will also be notified when the offence has caused serious harm. This provides a defensible, robust and accountable reviewing process in cases where further offences may or have been committed by offenders subject to MAPPA.

Initial Case Reviews -

The SOG has built on national guidance in developing its arrangements for reviewing all Initial Case Reviews (ICRs). An ICR takes place when the following occur:

- When an offender managed under MAPPA at any level, is charged with an offence that has resulted in the death or serious harm to another person, or an offence listed in Schedule 3 of the Sexual Offences Act 2003;
- Significant concern has been raised about professional and/or service involvement, or lack of involvement, in respect of the management of an offender under MAPPA at any level;
- Where it appears that a registered sex offender being managed under MAPPA is killed or seriously injured as a direct result of his/her status as a registered sex offender;
- Where an offender currently being managed under MAPPA has died or been seriously injured in circumstances likely to generate significant Public concern.

MAPPA OPERATIONAL GROUP

MAPPA within the North Strathclyde area is managed by the MAPPA Operational Group (MOG). This group is made up of the responsible authorities mentioned in section 2 at Local Authority Service Manager and Police Detective Chief Inspector level. It also has representation from the MAPPA Co-ordinator, Victim Support, Local Authority Housing and the Department of Work and Pensions.

The MOG's primary functions are to ensure the operational functioning of MAPPA is effective, through gathering of information pertinent to the delivery of MAPPA processes within its area.

The MOG has devised three Thematic work groups which cover the following areas.

- 1. Quality Assurance and Performance Management
- 2. Practice, Training and Development
- 3. Partnership Working

The above provides a structured approach to effectively integrate with the work of the Strategic Oversight Group (SOG) and allows priorities to be identified from both the strategic and operational levels. This structure also allows SOG members to oversee and direct the MOG regarding any issues that require addressing.

Any processes or amendments to existing procedures agreed by the MOG require to be taken to the SOG for final ratification.

Housing.

Housing agencies, under a duty to co-operate, are local authority Housing services and providers and Registered Social Landlords. Their role is to contribute to the management of risk identified by Responsible Authorities by providing accommodation; liaising with the Responsible Authorities on the ongoing management and monitoring of the risk of the person as tenant, including any tenancy moves or evictions; having regard to community safety and having in place exit strategies where a property is no longer suitable and/or the person's safety is at risk.

In the North Strathclyde area, each local authority has recruited a dedicated Sex Offender Liaison Officer (SOLO), who works directly with the person subject to the MAPPA arrangements. These Officers have proven to be critical to the overall risk management of registered sex offenders. The SOLOs have worked closely with the MAPPA Coordinators and the Responsible Authorities in SWS to further strengthen their risk assessment processes to ensure that community safety is at the heart of all procedures.

In the North Strathclyde Area, Environmental Risk Assessments (ERA) are carried out on every property that is potentially available (with all partners participating), in order to minimise any risks. Victim issues are the primary focus of the ERA. SOLOs

are standing members of all MAPPA meetings, with Registered Social Landlords and supported accommodation providers also being represented where appropriate. This collaborative approach minimises the potential for a person to be released from custody and accommodated within the same locality as a victim.

Local authority.

Each local authority (including, a local authority which has transferred its housing stock to an RSL) has to develop a strategy for the housing of sex offenders. This includes assessing the need for and provision of accommodation for sex offenders. However, in any local authority area there are likely to be many different housing providers and local authorities must involve and consult RSLs in their area in developing their strategy and clarify their contribution.

Criminal Justice Social Work (CJSW).

The local authorities provide a range of social work and social care services, including the provision of justice services. The core justice social work responsibilities are:

- The provision of reports to the Court and Parole Board;
- Supervision of probation; community service and supervised attendance orders;
 and
- · Supervision of post-custodial licences.

Whilst public protection and the risk management of registered sex offenders is a core objective of Justice Social Work Services, the primary aims of Justice Services are resettlement and rehabilitation. Justice Services have responsibility for the risk assessment and management of all registered sex offenders subject to community supervision. The Irving Report recommended that when the risk assessment was undertaken on a registered sex offender, this should be done jointly with the police: the police should be notified of any change to the risk assessment, and at the end of supervision another risk assessment should be undertaken. All persons leaving custody are entitled to apply for voluntary aftercare up to 12 months after leaving custody. National Objectives and Standards for Justice Services state that reports to Court or the Parole Board should include a risk assessment, and that any action plan for someone on probation or a post-custodial licence should include a risk management plan aimed at reducing the risk of re-offending or the risk of serious harm. Supervision of these orders or licences should be informed by the risk management plan. In cases where a person subject to sex offender registration is also subject to statutory supervision in the community by the local authority, responsibility for the case is shared by Police Scotland and local authority Justice Services. When Justice Service supervision ends and the risk of serious harm remains, the Police will become the responsible authority, but the person will still be managed under the MAPPA for the registration period.

CHILD PROTECTION

The protection of children is the responsibility of all agencies. New national guidance has been published and subject to an implementation plan; each organisation will have procedures distinct to them developed in accordance with national guidance. Senior personnel from Children and Families Social Work Services will attend MAPPA meetings and share information with other agencies where there are concerns about young people who may be actual or potential victims. This information will be shared for the purpose of developing comprehensive risk management plans, of which a robust victim safety plan is a central component.

The police

The responsibilities of the Police in relation to registered sex offenders include maintaining the ViSOR records of those persons in Scotland who are subject to the notification requirements of the Sexual Offences Act 2003 and to initiate enquiries where such persons fail to comply with the requirements placed upon them. The Police, as one of the Responsible Authorities within the MAPPA, has an important role in assessing and managing the risk presented by sex offenders in the community and a responsibility to develop, in conjunction with partner agencies, risk management plans for the purpose of monitoring and managing those people. Where someone in the community is subject to no other form of statutory supervision, then the police assume the role of lead responsible authority for that person. This includes sharing the responsibility for assessing all registered sex offenders, within the community. The assessment is carried out by officers working within the Sex Offender Policing Unit, and colleagues within Justice Services, who have been trained in the use of specialised risk assessment tools. The Police also play an important role in the management of restricted patients, and people assessed as other risk of serious harm, particularly regarding risk assessment and the ratification of risk management plans

The Scottish Prison Service (SPS)

The Scottish Prison Service (SPS), (or private sector provider, Serco Ltd), is the Responsible Authority for Category 1 registered sex offenders and Category 3 other risk of serious harm offenders whilst they are in prison. While a person is in custody, prison based social workers will apply the appropriate risk assessment tools. These tools are crucial in determining how a person should be managed during their sentence and for pre-release planning. The SPS and Serco Ltd also work in partnership with the local justice services supervising officer during sentence and in preparation for release. This process of sentence planning is referred to as Integrated Case Management (ICM)

There are two prisons within the North Strathclyde area, HMP Greenock and HMP Low Moss.

Health

Whilst Health Boards are a Responsible Authority in respect of restricted patients, they have a duty to co-operate in regard to registered sex offenders and people identifying as posing other risk of serious harm. Registered sex offenders may have contact with the Health Service in several different contexts. Most contacts with the NHS are via General Practitioners (GP's), outpatient or inpatient attendance at District General Hospitals. This will also include, for a few individuals, contact with Mental Health Services where people receive treatment voluntarily or under the Mental Health (Care and Treatment) (Scotland) Act 2003, or for example. Addiction Services.

Where a person has contact with the Health Service, the service has a duty to cooperate with other agencies in terms of information sharing and contributing to risk management. Where there are specific issues (i.e., a disability or enduring health diagnosis), that requires the provision of services to people or where there are concerns about risk to staff or other patients, then this is communicated by the MAPPA Health representative, or single point of contact, to Health Service staff to ensure appropriate arrangements to manage any risk to staff or patients are put in place. Equally, where Health Staff have information that is pertinent to risk management then this is shared with other agencies within MAPPA

Victim Support

Stop-It-Now

Is an online support network who target the following groups, they can be contacted via www.stopitnow.org.uk or by telephone 0808 1000 900

- Adult abusers and those at risk of abusing: to encourage them to recognise their behaviour as abusive or potentially abusive and to seek help to change.
- Family and friends concerned about an adult displaying worrying sexual thoughts
 or behaviour towards a child: to encourage them to recognise the signs of abusive
 behaviour in those close to them and to seek advice about what action to take.
- Parents and carers concerned about a child or young person with worrying sexual behaviour: to encourage them to recognise the signs of concerning or abusive behaviour and to seek advice about what positive action they can take.

Victim Support

Is an independent charity, who provide support and information to people affected by crime and campaign for victim and witness rights. Regardless of whether a crime has been reported or when it happened, their services are free, confidential and tailored to individuals needs.

Tel: 0141 849 0300

LOCAL DEVELOPMENT

North Strathclyde MAPPA MOG and SOG have progressed all the projected areas of development set out in 2022/2023s annual report.

5.1 Key achievements during this year (2022/2023):

In last year's annual report, we stated that the following key areas of business would be undertaken. In every case these have been completed or with further development planned.

Action	What	Success Measure	Who	Update / Criteria
1	Disseminate the new MAPPA Guidance.	All agencies will have a full understanding of their role in the MAPPA process	MAPPA Unit	List of new changes to guidance was circulated to all staff. Presentation by Scottish Government to MOG / SOG.
2	Encourage and support all staff with the Visor Vetting process	Increase in number of staff successfully vetted and trained.	MAPPA Unit	Continued to support all staff in the completion of the vetting forms.
3	To reinstate a full MAPPA Training programme.	To provide training on all aspects of the MAPPA Process.	Training Working Group.	MAPPA training programme now fully reinstated.

5.2 Additional Achievements for 2022/2023

This has continued to be a challenging year for everyone however the MAPPA Unit has managed to avoid any disruption to MAPPA Meetings. The meetings were all held via Microsoft Teams virtual platforms.

Training in how to complete Environmental Risk Assessments was raised by one of the Local Authorities, whilst there is no training course available for this it was agreed that a review of the current ERA guidance should be completed. A Short Life Working Group was established and new guidance which provides clear instructions on the completion of an ERA has been published.

The connection of Visor within local authorities was no longer sustainable and a new network connection was introduced in September 2022. A Security Operating Procedure (Syops) was also required to be signed by all vetted staff. New terminals have been set up in each of the Local Authorities.

5.3 Future Aims and Objectives for 2023/2024

Action	What	Success Measure	Who	Update / Criteria
1	To disseminate the MAPPA Training video to all agencies as part of their initial training programmes	All new staff will have access to the video which will provide a basic understanding of the MAPPA process	MAPPA Unit	
2	To provide further training to Housing Staff	To achieve a more efficient working relationship with Housing	MAPPA Unit	
3	To review the recommendations and learning points from the Glasgow SCR.	To ensure that recommendations and learning points are implemented	SLWG	

		throughout North Strathclyde		
4	To review the Chairing of Level 1 MAPPA Meetings	To ensure that there is a consistent approach to Chairing Level 1 MAPPA Meetings.	MAPPA Unit	
5	To introduce an Independent SOG Chair	To imbed the independent chair post to develop governance arrangements	SOG	

5.4 Training

An extensive training programme was established this year. This has included Chair Training (Hazel Kempshall), Awareness training, Document training and training with SPS.

A MAPPA video has been produced by the North Strathclyde MAPPA Unit which was so successful Scottish Government gave the go ahead to produce a National MAPPA video which will be distributed to all local authorities, Police Divisions, Health Boards and Scottish Prison Service.

A MOG / SOG Development Day took place on 2 November 2022 where the group received presentations From the Scottish Prison Service on MF2C and an update on new developments by the Risk Management Authority.

The learning and development emanating from both Initial Case Reviews and Significant Case Reviews will continue to be shared with Responsible Authorities and Duty Cooperate Agencies via the MAPPA quarterly newsletter. To ensure practitioners have the required knowledge multi-agency training has been organised with Children and Families, Youth Justice and Health on learning from significant case reviews.

ANNUAL REPORT 01/04/2022 to 31/03/2023

Sections 3 (10) and 11 of the <u>Management of Offenders etc. (Scotland) Act 2005</u> sets out the legislative requirements in respect of the publication of an annual report and the provision of information to Scottish Ministers.

The report is the responsibility of the Community Justice Authority, and the report should be made readily accessible to the public. The reporting period is from 1 April to 31 March every year. Unless stated the statistics recorded are for the reporting period 1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023.

National MAPPA Annual report 2022/23 can be found on the Scottish Government website under publications.

The Scottish Government will compile and publish on the Scottish Government website an annual statistical bulletin which will also contain a summary of matters or events which have had national significance within the reporting period.

The following tables set out the information required by Scottish Ministers.

Explanations of information are at the end of this report.

Due to reporting changes the figures include offenders who are in custody and in the community unless stated differently. Previous Annual Reports included figures of offenders in the community only.

Table 1: Registered Sex Offenders		
REGISTERED SEX OFFENDERS (RSO's)	NUMBER	
a) Number of Registered Sex Offenders:	499	
1) At liberty and living in your area on 31st March 2023:	329	
2) Per 100,000 of the population on 31st March 2023:	72	
b) The number of RSO's having a notification requirement who		
were reported for breaches of the requirements to notify between 1		
April 2022 and 31 March 2023:	19	
	Reported	
c) The number of "wanted" RSOs on 31st March 2023:	Nationally	
	Reported	
d) The number of "missing" RSOs on 31 st March 2023:	Nationally	

Table 2: Civil Orders applied and granted in relation to RSO's.		
	Granted by	
The Number of	the Courts	

a) Sexual Offences Prevention Orders (SOPO'S) in force on 31 March 2023	43
b) SOPO'S imposed by courts between 1 April 2020 & 31 March 2023	1
c) Risk of Sexual Harm Orders (RHSO's) in Force on 31.03.22	0
d) Sexual Harm Prevention Orders (SHPO's) in force on 31 March 2023	11
e) SHPOs granted by Courts between 1 April and 31 March	0
f) Sexual Risk Orders (SROs) in force on 31 March 2023	0
g) Number of RSOs convicted of breaching a SOPO between 1 April 2022and 31 March 2023	6
h) Number of people convicted of a breach of a SHPO between 1 April 2022 & 31 March 2023	Reported Nationally
i) Number of people convicted of a breach of a RSHO between 1 April 2022 & 31 March 2023	0
j) Number of people convicted of breaching a SRO between 1 April 2022 and 31 March 2023	Reported Nationally
k) Number of Foreign Travel Orders imposed by courts between 1 April 2022 and 31 March 2023	0
I) Number of Notification Orders imposed by courts between 1 April 2022 & 31 March 2023	0

Table 3: Registered Sex Offenders					
		At			
REGISTERED SEX OFFENDERS (RSO's)	Custody	Liberty	Total		
a) Number of RSOs managed in the community by MAPPA level as at 31 March 2022:					
1) MAPPA Level 1:	125	329	454		
2) MAPPA Level 2:	33	10	43		
3) MAPPA Level 3:	2	0	2		
b) Number of Registered Sex Offenders convicted					
of a further group 1 or 2 crime between 1st April					
2021 and 31st March 2022:			8		

c) Number of RSO's returned to custody for a		
breach of statutory conditions between 1 April 2022		
and 31 March 2023 (including those returned to		
custody because of a conviction for a group 1 or 2		
crime):		11
d) Number of indefinite sex offenders reviewed		
under the terms of the Sexual Offences Act 2003		
(Remedial) (Scotland) Order 2011 between 1 April		Reported
2022 and 31 March 2023:		Nationally
e) Number of notification continuation orders issued		
under the terms of the Sexual Offences Act 2003		
(Remedial) (Scotland) Order 2011 between 1 April		Reported
2022 and 31 March 2023:		Nationally
a)Number of PSO subject to formal disclosure		
g)Number of RSO subject to formal disclosure		
between 1st April 2022 and 31st March 2023		0

Table 5: Other Risk of Serious Harm Offenders			
	NUMBER		
a) Number of managed by MAPPA level as at 31 March 2023:			
2) MAPPA Level 2:	3		
3) MAPPA Level 3:	0		
b) Number of offenders convicted of a further Group 1 or 2			
crime:			
1) MAPPA Level 1	8		
2) MAPPA Level 2:	1		
3) MAPPA Level 3:	0		
c) Number of offenders returned to custody for a breach of			
statutory conditions (including those returned to custody			
because of a conviction of Group 1 or 2 crime)	3		
d) Number of notifications made to DWP under the terms of the			
Management of Offenders etc. (Scotland) Act, 2005 (Disclosure			
of Information) Order 2010 between			
1 April 2022 and 31 March 2023	8		

Table 6: Delineation of RSO'S by age on 31st		
March 2023:		
	RSO	RSO
Age	Number	Percentage %

18-21	6	1.22
22-25	29	5.81
26-30	50	10.02
31-40	113	22.65
41-50	100	20.04
51-60	96	19.24
61-70	64	12.83
Older than 70	41	8.22
Total	499	100

Table 7: Delineation of population of RSO's on 31st March 2023:		
		RSO
	RSO	Percentage
Sex	Number	%
a) Male	496	99.40
b) Female	2	0.40
c)Other	1	0.20
Total	192	100

Table 8: Delineation of RSO's by ethnicity on 31st March 2023:			
		RSO	
	RSO	Percentage	
Ethnic Origin	Number	%	
White Scottish	392	78.56	
Other British	42	8.42	
Irish	4	0.80	
Polish	2	0.41	
Other white ethnic group	13	2.61	
Mixed or multiple ethnic group	1	0.20	
Pakistani, Pakistani Scottish or Pakistani British	1	0.20	
Indian, Indian Scottish or Indian British			
Chinese, Chinese Scottish or Chinese British			
Other Asian	1	0.20	
African, African Scottish or African British	1	0.20	
Other African	2	0.40	
Caribbean, Caribbean Scottish or Caribbean British	1	0.20	
Black, Black Scottish or Black British			

Other Caribbean or Black		
Arab, Arab Scottish or Arab British	1	0.20
Other ethnic group	1	0.20
Prefer not to say	9	1.80
Data Not Held	29	5.61
Total		
	499	100

Table 9: Number of RSO's managed under statutory conditions and/or notification requirements on 31st March 2023:		
		Percentage
Number of RSO's	Number	%
a) On Statutory supervision:	142	28.46
a) On Statutory supervision:b) Subject to notification requirements only:	142 357	28.46 71.54

7. EXPLANATION COMMENTARY ON STATISTICAL TABLES

The totals of MAPPA-eligible offenders, broken down by category, reflect the picture on 31 March 2023 (i.e. they are a snapshot) for offenders who are in custody and in the community unless stated differently. This has been a change from previous years when only figures for community based Registered Sex Offenders were reported. Where it states 1st April 2023 – 31st March 2023, this will represent the total numbers for that year.

These figures are the combined figures for North Strathclyde and not for each individual Local Authority.

This year the data has been provided by the Scottish Government, Police Scotland, NHS Greater Glasgow and Clyde, NHS Highland, and North Strathclyde MAPPA unit.

MAPPA-eligible Offenders

There are a number of offenders defined in law as eligible for MAPPA management, because they have committed specified sexual and violent offences, or they currently pose a risk of serious harm. Most offenders (88.97%) are managed under routine agency arrangements (Level 1). These offenders are subject to multi-agency

MAPPA meetings and have recorded risk management plans in place. These offenders are often managed by one or two agencies.

Level 2 MAPPA offenders will require multi-agency involvement in all cases and require the scrutiny of senior Social Work, Police or Health care management in the risk management planning. As of 31st March 2023(10.2%) of offenders are managed as Level 2.

Level 3 offenders are the critical few, whose risk of serious harm are assessed as very complex and require a significant resource input from services that requires the oversight of Social Work Head of Service/Detective Superintendent or Senior Health Manager. As of 31st March 2023 (1.1%) of offenders are managed as Level 3.

Table 1 – Registered Sex Offenders

a) Registered Sexual Offenders (RSOs) – those who are required to notify the police of their name, address, and other personal details and to notify any changes subsequently (this is known as the "notification requirement.") Failure to comply with the notification requirement is a criminal offence which carries a maximum penalty of five years' imprisonment.

These figures relate to MAPPA offenders who are managed in the community and in custody.

- a2) This information is taken from the General Register of Scotland and represents the population as of mid-2023.
- b) This figure represents the number of individual RSOs who were reported for failing to register details with the Police over the reporting year. The figures **do not report** on whether there were multiple breaches rather counting the offenders who have breached their notification requirements.
- **c) Wanted RSOs –** An offender subject of the notification requirement should be considered as wanted in the following circumstances.

Where it is known that an offender is actively avoiding police in response to police enquiries to trace that individual relative to offences they may have committed or in relation to other matters for which it is required that they be interviewed. This may include those occasions where an offender is the subject of an arrest warrant.

d) Missing RSOs - An offender subject of the notification requirement should be considered as Missing in the following circumstances.

Where the current whereabouts of an offender is unknown and Police and other responsible authority's enquiries to establish their whereabouts have been unsuccessful. As a result of these actions the risk management process may not be achievable and there exists a requirement to trace the individual and address the risk they may pose and establish if further offences have been committed.

Table 2

a/b/d) Sexual Offences Prevention Order (SOPO) – Sexual Offences Prevention Orders (SOPO's) and interim SOPO's are intended to protect the public from the risks posed by sex offenders by placing restrictions and obligations on their behaviour. An order may restrict the offender from doing anything specified in it, or positively oblige them to carry out a specified act. SOPO's can be obtained by the police on civil application to the court or be issued by the criminal courts at time of sentencing. A Civil SOPO can be made for a maximum period of 10 years. A criminal SOPO can be made for an indefinite period.

The restrictions and obligations must be necessary for the purpose of protecting the public or any particular members of the public from serious sexual harm from the offender. The SOPO and interim SOPO also require the offender subject of the order to notify their details to the police as set out in the Sexual Offences Act 2003.

c/e) Risk of Sexual Harm Orders (RHSO) - Section 2 of the Protection of Children and Prevention of Sexual Offences (Scotland) Act 2005 provides the power for the Courts to place restrictions or obligations on someone who is behaving in such a way which suggest that they pose risk of sexual harm to a particular child (under 18) or to children (under 18) generally. The person's behaviour need not constitute a criminal offence, and they need not have any previous convictions. The Court may impose on the person any restrictions or obligations which are required to protect a particular child or children generally from sexual harm from that person.

Where a person has a previous conviction for crimes of a sexual nature, a SOPO should be considered rather than a RSHO. Breach of a RSHO is a criminal offence and criminal procedures and penalties apply. The breach of an RSHO also automatically renders an individual subject to the SONR.

- **f) Foreign Travel Orders** these prevent offenders with convictions for sexual offences against children from travelling abroad where this is necessary to protect children from the risk of sexual harm.
- **g) Notification Order** this requires sexual offenders who have been convicted overseas to register with the police, to protect the public in the UK from the risks that they pose. The police may apply to the court for a notification order in relation to offenders who are already in the UK or are intending to come to the UK.

Table 3

c) Breach of Licence – Sex offenders released into the community following a period of imprisonment over 6 months or more will be subject to a licence with conditions (under Criminal Justice Social Work supervision). If these conditions are not complied with, breach action will be taken, and the offender may be recalled to prison. These figures represent MAPPA offenders who have only been in custody for a sexual offence at some point, and who have returned to custody through either

- Group 1 Crimes of Violence: includes murder, attempted murder, serious assault, robbery, and assault with intent to rob, threats and extortion and cruelty to children
- Group 2 Sexual Offences: includes rape, assault with intent to rape; indecent assault and sexual offences against children.
- f) Notifications made to Job Centre Plus (JCP) Whilst the Department of Work and Pensions/JCP are not duty to co-operate agencies, there is legislation which allows information to be shared in relation to the management of offenders. This is intended to restrict the placing of MAPPA offenders in inappropriate employment or training. These arrangements allow for notifications to be made to JCP by the lead agencies, advising of potential or known risks to JCP staff or other employment and training providers.

Table 4

Restricted Patients -

The figures contained here are for the South Clyde, East & West Dumbarton areas of Greater Glasgow and Clyde (GGC) Health Board and NHS Highland.

a2) It should be noted that 17 of the restricted inpatients are currently in secure inpatient wards in the greater Glasgow area of GGC. Due to this they have been counted in the Glasgow return as 'resident in your area on 31 March'. The North Strathclyde MAPPA unit retains responsibility for the scheduling of meetings for these patients. There are currently 4 Restricted Patients living within the NSCJA area.

It should be noted that we are reporting the accounting year figures from 1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023 for those managed within MAPPA. At the 31st March 2023 there were 0 Restricted Patients subject to level 2 MAPPA meetings. There were no Restricted Patients within the areas of NHS Highland that North Strathclyde MAPPA Unit covered during the accounting period.

- b1. CORO (Compulsion Order and Restriction Order) Where there is an ongoing risk of serious harm the Court may make a restriction order in addition to a Compulsion Order. A patient on a CORO can only be transferred to another hospital or given periods of time outside a hospital with the permission of the Scottish Ministers. Where a patient is subject to a CORO, they can only be discharged to the community by a Mental Health Tribunal. Usually, strict conditions will be placed on a patient on CORO in the community and the Scottish Government closely monitors the management of these patients. While a patient is on a CORO, either in hospital or conditionally discharged to the community, they are a restricted patient.
- **b2. HD (Hospital Direction) -** A disposal which may be made by a criminal Court where a mentally disordered offender is convicted on indictment (i.e., a serious

offence has been committed.) The patient is detained in hospital and a prison sentence is imposed which runs in parallel. If a patient no longer requires treatment in hospital, they can go to prison to serve the rest of their sentence. If they remain in hospital at the end of the prison sentence then they must be released or if they need to be detained in hospital, then an application is made for a Compulsory Treatment Order. While a patient is on HD, they are a restricted patient.

- **b3. TTD –** (Transfer for Treatment Direction) A procedure under the Mental Health (Care and Treatment) (Scotland) Act 2003 which allows a sentenced prisoner with a mental disorder to be transferred to a psychiatric hospital for treatment. If the patient no longer requires treatment in hospital, then they can go back to prison to serve the rest of their sentence. If they remain in hospital at the end of the prison sentence then they must be released or if they need to be detained in hospital, then an application is made for Compulsory Treatment Order. While a patient is on TTD, they are a restricted patient.
- **c2.** Other hospital no suspension of detention (SUS) Suspension of detention is a period of leave either escorted or unescorted following consent of Scottish Government Ministers

Table 5

a) Other Risk of Serious Harm Offenders include offenders who have been convicted of an offence, and by reason of that convictions are required to be subject to supervision in the community by an order or licence; are assessed by the responsible authorities as posing a high or very high risk of serious harm to the public at large and the risk assessed as requiring multi-agency management.

As of 31st March 2023, there were 4 Other Risk of Serious Harm Offenders being managed by North Strathclyde.

- b/c) These figures represent Risk of Serious Harm Offenders who have breached their Community Based Order or Licence Condition by.
- Group 1 Crimes of Violence: includes murder, attempted murder, serious assault, robbery and assault with intent to rob, threats and extortion and cruelty to children
- Group 2 Sexual Offences: includes rape, assault with intent to rape; indecent assault and sexual offences against children.

There were 3 Other Risk of Serious Harm Offenders who breached their statutory conditions between 1st April 2022 and 31st March 2023.

Table 9

Number of RSOs managed under statutory conditions and/or notification requirements on 31st March 2023

Statutory supervision refers to offenders who are on a form of supervision order or licence managed by Criminal Justice Social Work. Those offenders who are subject to notification requirements only, are supervised by the Police.

8. GLOSSARY OF TERMS

Custodial Sentence: Short-Term-Prisoner: custodial sentence less than 4 years imprisonment. Long-Term-Prisoner: custodial sentence over 4 years.

Disclosure: The sharing of specific information about a MAPPA offender with a third party (not involved in MAPPA) for the purposes of protecting the public. There are various methods of disclosure.

DTC: Duty to Cooperate. The DTC persons or bodies in Scotland are listed within The Management of Offenders etc. (Scotland) Act 2005 (Specification of Persons) Order 2007.

DWP: Department for Work and Pensions.

GDPR: General Data Protection Regulations.

MAPPA Co-ordinator: The coordinator's role is a dedicated function undertaken on behalf of the responsible authorities. The coordinator is accountable to those operating the arrangements through the local MAPPA Strategic Oversight Group (SOG).

Responsible Authorities: The responsible authorities are the police, local authorities, health boards or Special Health Boards and the Scottish Prison Service (SPS) (acting on behalf of Scottish Ministers).

RSL: Registered Social Landlord

ICR: Initial Case Review which is conducted to establish if the significant case review process is required.

SCR: Significant Case Reviews are considered in the event of an offender being managed under MAPPA who has been charged with Murder or has been harmed as a result of their MAPPA status or there are sufficient serious concerns relating to the management of that offender.

SOLO: Sex Offender Liaison Officer usually a housing officer with a responsibility for liaising with responsible authorities in the identification of appropriate accommodation for sex offenders.

SONR: Sex Offender Notification Requirements.